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United States Court of Appeds

FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CIRCUIT
Argued February 10, 1995 Decided March 28, 1995
No. 94-3050

FERNANDO LEONZO,

APPELLANT

V.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

APPELLEE

Apped from the United States Didrict Court

for the Didtrict of Columbia

(93cr00420)

Thomas G. Corcoran, gppointed by this Court, argued the cause and filed the briefs for gppellant.

Lilly Ann Sanchez, Assistant United States Attorney, argued the cause for appellee. With her on the brief
were Eric H. Holder, Jr., United States Attorney, John R. Fisher, William S. Block and Katherine A.
Worthington, Assistant United States Attorneys.

Before BUCKLEY, WILLIAMS and SENTELLE, Circuit Judges.
Opinion for the Court filed by Circuit Judge WILLIAMS,

WILLIAMS, Circuit Judge: Under the Sentencing Guiddines, punishment for certain economic crimes
depends on the value of the loss inflicted. This case involves a dispute as to how to measure the loss caused
by the defendant's default on a fraudulently obtained loan. The government clamed that the losswas 39.5  of
the loan's principal balance. The only evidence it offered to support that figure was that the Resolution Trust
Corporation, as successor to the defrauded bank, had sold the loan as part of a portfolio of non-performing
loans and had redlized a price on the portfolio amounting to only 60.5  of the total of the principa balances.
Defendant offered in oppodtion an gppraisa that showed arange of vaues for the property securing his loan,
the lowest of which was well above the principa balance. The didtrict court accepted the government's view.
We find that it erred in doing s0. Because the average vaue of members of a set, without more, provides no
evidence of the value of any particular member of the s&t, the government's evidence failed to prove aloss.
We reverse and remand for resentencing without the Guidelines "point” attributable to this error.

* * %
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Fernando Leonzo pled guilty to one count of conspiracy to commit bank fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. §
371 (1988). At sentencing, the government argued for an enhancement of the base offense level on the basis
of asserted losses in three separate transactions. Two of these, with losses totaling nearly $79,000, are
undisputed; Leonzo concedes that the digtrict court could properly add six points (for losses exceeding
$70,000) and accordingly sentence him to up to 18 months. See U.S. Sentencing Guiddines 8
2F1.1(b)(1)(G) (1994).

The dispute here centers around a third transaction, which the government claims bumps the losses up into
the next category, "More than $120,000". Id. § 2F1.1(b)(1)(H). In May 1990 Leonzo obtained a $275,000
loan from Perpetud Savings Bank to refinance the mortgage on hishome in Vienna, Virginia He defaulted a
year later, leaving nearly $274,000 of outstanding principa. In January 1992 Perpetua was declared
insolvent and placed in the receivership of the RTC. The RTC put the loan into a portfolio of loansthat had in
common only the fact that they were non-performing; it sold the package at auction in September 1992 for
60.5 of theloans aggregate principa baance.

In preparation for sentencing the government obtained a letter from the RTC reciting thisinformation, which
the RTC claimed proved that it had taken aloss of 39.5 of the loan's $273,704.42, or $108,057.88. This
brought the tota losses caused by Leonzo to well over $120,000. Leonzo responded with an appraisa by
Long & Foster Red Estate, valuing the Vienna property at between $300,000 and $330,000. The low end
of the range was more than $25,000 above the unpaid balance; the mid-range estimate was more than
$40,000 higher. He aso applied for funds under the Crimina Justice Act to meet the expense of securing an
expert witness, a professor of finance at American University, who, according to Leonzo's gpplication, would
provide a written opinion about the RTC's lass caculation.

The district court denied the request for expert assistance as "not warranted” and accepted the RTC's loss
caculation. Accordingly, the court added 7 points for the total amount of the losses. After adjusting for
various increases and decreases that are not disputed, thisyielded atota offense leve of 14, with aresulting
sentencing range, given defendant's crimind history category, of 15 to 21 months. The court sentenced
Leonzo to 21 months.

* * %

For "Offenses Involving Fraud or Deceit” the Sentencing Guidelines direct courts to consder the "actud 1oss
to the victim", and ingtruct them to caculate the loss as follows:

[1]f adefendant fraudulently obtains aloan by misrepresenting the vaue of his assats, the lossis the amount of
the loan not repaid at the time the offense is discovered, reduced by the amount the lending ingtitution has
recovered (or can expect to recover) from any assets pledged to secure the loan.

U.S. Sentencing Guiddines Manua, 8 2F1.1, Application Note 7(b) (1994). The government bears the
burden of establishing "loss’ under 8 2F1.1 by a preponderance of the evidence. See United Satesv.
Salmon, 948 F.2d 776, 778-79 (D.C. Cir. 1991). The district court implicitly found that the RTC had
recovered only 60.5 of the value of the asset "pledged to secure the loan™, resulting in aloss of
$108,057.88.

The didrict court'sloss caculation isafactud finding that we review for clear error. United States v.
Holiusa, 13 F.3d 1043, 1045 (7th Cir. 1994); see also United Satesv. Kim, 23 F.3d 513, 517 (D.C. Cir.
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1994). We find such an error here. The RTC letter provides no evidence about how much of the vaue of the
Vienna property RTC actually recovered a auction. Many loss amounts, including zero, are consstent with
the RTC'srecovery of 60.5 _for the portfolio as awhole, depending on the distribution of values within the
portfolio. One learns dmost nothing about the value of a specific house from knowledge that it islocated in a
zip code where houses are on average worth $300,000, and nothing about the verba SAT score of a
specific high school student from information that her class averaged 615 on the verba SAT. Indeed, the only
evidence in the record directly bearing on the vadue of the mortgaged property, the appraisal, suggests that
the RTC may wel have taken no loss at al. Accordingly, the sentence is vacated and the case remanded.

It remains to decide whether on remand the government may offer new evidence to support its clam of aloss
on the Viennaloan exceeding $41,000, which would be necessary to carry the total |osses over $120,000.
We are convinced that it should not. The government had the burdens of production and persuasion, and we
see no reason why it should get a second bite at the apple. No specia circumstances justified, or even
explained, the government's failure to sustain these burdens. As the Seventh Circuit noted in acase in which
the government smilarly "faled-failed utterly-to prove any lossto the victim of [the defendants] fraud”, "the
Guiddines award bonus punishment points for different levels of proven loss beginning with $2,000. The
government did not earn abonusin thiscase™ United States v. Schneider, 930 F.2d 555, 559 (7th Cir.
1991); see also United Sates v. Abud-Sanchez, 973 F.2d 835, 839 (10th Cir. 1992); United States v.
Smith, 951 F.2d 1164, 1169 (10th Cir. 1991). Accordingly, we remand for resentencing on the existing
record, with only a 6-point increase under 8§ 2F1.1(b)(G). This of course moots defendant's argument that
the digtrict court erred in denying his gpplication for CJA funds for an expert witness. Because the
defendant’s sentence is arelaively short one, the district court should resentence him quickly, to insure that he
serves no more than the eighteen months maximum that a correct gpplication of the Guiddinesyieds.

So ordered.

Footnotes
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for the Didrict of Columbia
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by the defendant's default on a fraudulently obtained loan. The government clamed that the losswas 39.5  of
the loan's principal balance. The only evidence it offered to support that figure was that the Resolution Trust
Corporation, as successor to the defrauded bank, had sold the loan as part of a portfolio of non-performing
loans and had redlized a price on the portfolio amounting to only 60.5  of the total of the principa balances.
Defendant offered in oppostion an gppraisa that showed arange of vaues for the property securing his loan,
the lowest of which was well above the principa balance. The didtrict court accepted the government's view.
We find that it erred in doing s0. Because the average vaue of members of a set, without more, provides no
evidence of the value of any particular member of the s&t, the government's evidence failed to prove aloss.
We reverse and remand for resentencing without the Guidelines "point” attributable to this error.

* * %

Fernando Leonzo pled guilty to one count of conspiracy to commit bank fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. §
371 (1988). At sentencing, the government argued for an enhancement of the base offense level on the basis
of asserted losses in three separate transactions. Two of these, with losses totaling nearly $79,000, are
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$70,000) and accordingly sentence him to up to 18 months. See U.S. Sentencing Guiddines 8
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Salmon, 948 F.2d 776, 778-79 (D.C. Cir. 1991). The digtrict court implicitly found that the RTC had
recovered only 60.5 of the vaue of the asset "pledged to secure the loan”, resulting in aloss of
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1994). We find such an error here. The RTC letter provides no evidence about how much of the vaue of the
Vienna property RTC actually recovered a auction. Many loss amounts, including zero, are consstent with
the RTC'srecovery of 60.5 _for the portfolio as awhole, depending on the distribution of values within the
portfolio. One learns dmost nothing about the value of a specific house from knowledge that it islocated in a
zip code where houses are on average worth $300,000, and nothing about the verba SAT score of a
specific high school student from information that her class averaged 615 on the verba SAT. Indeed, the only
evidence in the record directly bearing on the vadue of the mortgaged property, the appraisal, suggests that
the RTC may wel have taken no loss at al. Accordingly, the sentence is vacated and the case remanded.
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record, with only a 6-point increase under 8§ 2F1.1(b)(G). This of course moots defendant's argument that
the digtrict court erred in denying his gpplication for CJA funds for an expert witness. Because the
defendant’s sentence is arelaively short one, the district court should resentence him quickly, to insure that he
serves no more than the eighteen months maximum that a correct gpplication of the Guiddinesyieds.

So ordered.
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